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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 
JOSE CORDADA, individually and  
on behalf of similarly situated persons, 
 
   Plaintiff, 
 
 v. 
 
MATTRESS FIRM HOLDING CORP. 
and MATTRESS FIRM, INC., 
 
   Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 

C.A. No. ______________________ 
 
CLASS ACTION 
 
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL  

 

   

 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff Jose Cordada, individually and on behalf of all other similarly situated applicants, 

employees and former employees, for his Class Action Complaint against Defendants, alleges as 

follows: 

Introduction 

1. Defendant Mattress Firm Holding Corp., through its direct and indirect subsidiaries, 

including Defendant Mattress Firm, Inc., is the nation’s leading specialty bedding retailer. 

(Defendants are collectively referred to as “Mattress Firm” throughout this Complaint.)  

2. Mattress Firm has more than 3,600 stores across 49 states and annual sales of more than 

$3,500,000,000.00. It employs between 5,000 and 10,000 workers in its stores and at its 

headquarters at any time. Hundreds, if not thousands, of prospective employees apply to work for 

Mattress Firm every year.  

3. Plaintiff brings this lawsuit as a class action under the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”), 

15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq., because Mattress Firm routinely and systematically procures consumer 

reports from applicants and employees based on an unlawful disclosure form. 
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4. Plaintiff and the Class Members have suffered concrete injuries because they did not 

receive the information to which they were entitled under the FCRA. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

5. This Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s and Class Members’ FCRA claims pursuant to 

15 U.S.C. §§ 1681n & 1681p and 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal claims). 

6. Venue in this District is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 since both Defendants are residents 

of the State. 

Parties 

7. Defendants Mattress Firm Holding Corp. and Mattress Firm, Inc. are Delaware 

corporations maintaining their principal place of business in Houston, Texas. Their registered 

agent is The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, DE 19801. 

8. During times relevant, Defendants have owned and operated stores around the country, 

including stores in Delaware.  

9. Plaintiff Jose Cordada lives in Orem, Utah. He was employed by Mattress Firm from 

approximately August 18, 2016 to January 20, 2017 as a Manager in Training and Manager on 

Duty at its stores in Orem, Provo, and Salt Lake City.  

General Allegations 

 Statutory Background - FCRA 

10. The FCRA was enacted to establish procedures for meeting the needs of commerce for 

consumer reports and other information in a manner that is fair and equitable to individuals with 

regards to confidentiality, accuracy, relevancy, and utilization of information. 15 U.S.C. § 1681(b). 

11. Congress defined “consumer reports” to expressly include background reports obtained for 

employment purposes. 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(d)(1)(B). 

Case 1:17-cv-00565-UNA   Document 1   Filed 05/15/17   Page 2 of 13 PageID #: 2



3 
 

12. Through its provisions, the FCRA requires employers to disclose to individuals that 

consumer reports may be obtained for employment purposes before procuring them. 15 U.S.C. § 

1681(b)(2)(A)(i). 

13. Specifically, the FCRA makes it unlawful for employers to procure consumer reports for 

employment purposes “unless … a clear and conspicuous disclosure has been made in writing to 

[individuals] before doing so in a document that consists solely of the disclosure …” 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681b(b)(2)(A)(1). This is often referred to as the “stand-alone disclosure requirement.”  

14. This requirement gives notice to individuals that consumer reports may be prepared and 

allows them to exercise their substantive rights under the FCRA. See, e.g., 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(a) 

(limiting temporal scope of information that can be reported); § 1681e(b) (mandating procedures 

for consumer reporting agencies (“CRAs”) to ensure “maximum possible accuracy” in reports); § 

1681k (requiring CRAs to either provide notice to individuals that information is being reported 

or have “strict procedures” to ensure that the information is “complete and up to date”); § 1681i 

(requiring CRAs to investigate any disputed information); § 1681g (requiring that CRAs provide 

a complete copy of files to individuals). 

15. Without this notice, the ability of individuals to protect their rights, including protecting 

their privacy and/or correcting errors, is significantly impaired. This is a concrete harm that goes 

to the core of the interests Congress sought to protect. 

Mattress Firm’s Disclosure Form 

16. During times relevant, Mattress Firm has routinely procured consumer reports on 

applicants and employees. 

17. Mattress Firm informs applicants that they will be required to pass a background check as 

a condition of employment. 
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18. Mattress Firm provides its applicants and employees with online documents to complete, 

including a form titled “Disclosure Regarding Background Investigation” (“Disclosure Form”). 

19. This is not a stand-alone disclosure and does not comply with the requirements of § 

1681b(b)(2)(A)(1). 

20. It contains numerous items of extraneous information beyond the disclosure that a 

consumer report may be obtained for employment purposes, including: 

a. A statement that applicants or employees may be the subject of consumer or 

investigative consumer reports, which may include information about their 

character, general reputation, personal characteristics, and/or mode of living, and 

which can involve personal interviews with sources such as neighbors, friends, or 

associates; 

b. A statement that reports may contain information regarding applicants’ or 

employees’ credit history, criminal history, social security verification, driving 

records, and education or employment history; 

c. A vague and ambiguous statement that reports may contain information regarding 

other background checks; 

d. A statement that applicants or employees have the right to request, within an 

undefined “reasonable” time, whether consumer reports have been run about them, 

disclosure of the nature and scope of any investigate consumer report, and copies 

of their reports; 

e. A vague and ambiguous advisory statement that the nature and scope of the most 

common form of investigative consumer report is an employment history or 

verification; 
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f. A statement that searches will be conducted by Asurint; 

g. Asurint’s address; 

h. Asurint’s telephone number; 

i. Asurint’s website;  

j. A broad statement that the disclosure is “all-encompassing” allowing Mattress Firm 

to obtain from any outside organization all manner of consumer reports throughout 

the course of employment to the extent permitted by law;  

k. An instruction to sign and click the “accept” button; 

l. Instructions if using a mouse; 

m. Instructions if using a laptop; and 

n. Instructions if using a mobile device. 

21. The FCRA allows only a single exception to the requirement that employers provide 

applicants and employees with a document consisting solely of the disclosure that a consumer 

report will be procured for employment purposes. Specifically, the statute states that the disclosure 

may include a written authorization for the employer to procure a report.  

22. The extraneous information listed in paragraph 20 in Mattress Firm’s Disclosure Form is 

neither a disclosure that a consumer report may be obtained for employment purposes nor an 

authorization for the procurement of such a report. Rather, this information renders the disclosures 

required under the FCRA not “clear and conspicuous” and not in a document consisting “solely” 

of the disclosures. 

Plaintiff’s Application to Work at Mattress Firm 

23. In or around August 2016, Plaintiff applied to work at Mattress Firm. 
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24. On or about August 18, 2016, Plaintiff received an email requesting that he complete an 

online information request that consisted of a number of documents, included the Disclosure Form. 

25. Plaintiff electronically signed the documents contained in the online information request, 

including the Disclosure Form, but did not fully understand scope of the background check 

Defendants were conducting or his rights under the FCRA. 

26. Shortly thereafter, Mattress Firm procured a consumer report on Plaintiff. 

27. Plaintiff was then hired by Mattress Firm. 

28. Mattress Firm’s Disclosure Form violates the FCRA’s stand-alone disclosure requirement 

because it contains extraneous information, as explained above. 

29. Plaintiff suffered several concrete injuries due to Mattress Firm’s improper Disclosure 

Form and failure to comply with the FCRA’s stand-alone disclosure requirement, including, but 

not limited to: 

a. Plaintiff was deprived of his statutory right to a stand-alone disclosure and thereby 

lost his full statutory protection against unintended disclosure of confidential 

information; 

b. Plaintiff lose his statutory right to identify the full scope of requested information 

on a stand-alone disclosure form and make a fully-informed choice about whether 

to authorize the disclosure or decline and seek different employment that would not 

expose certain confidential information; 

c. Plaintiff faced risks to future and/or continuing employment prospects with 

Mattress Firm and others based on personal information obtained, unknowingly, 

that could result in termination or prevent future promotions; 
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d. Plaintiff lost his right to receive a Disclosure Form with clear, understandable terms 

that prevent the release of false or inaccurate information due to vague and 

confusing requests for background information; and 

e. Plaintiff suffered violations of his privacy rights due to the content of Mattress 

Firm’s Disclosure Form. Specifically, Mattress Firm’s Disclosure Form uses vague 

terms, confusing phrases, and formatting methods that prevented an adequate 

understanding of the authorization request and thereby violated Plaintiff’s rights by 

exposing his personal information without his full and knowing consent. 

 Mattress’ Firms Policy and Practice 

30. The text of the FCRA is clear. Mattress Firm is required to provide a disclosure in a 

document consisting solely of the disclosure (and authorization, if applicable) before procuring 

consumer reports. Mattress Firm fails to follow the law. 

31. The disclosures Mattress Firm provide are not compliant with the FCRA’s plain and 

unambiguous language because they include extraneous information. 

32. The FTC has expressly warned employers that when using background checks to make 

employment decisions, including information from credit reports and criminal records, they must 

comply with the FCRA, including the stand-alone disclosure requirement. 

33. Courts around the nation, including courts in the Third Circuit, have held that: (a) a plaintiff 

alleging violations of the FCRA’s stand-alone disclosure requirement has standing, (b) obtaining 

a consumer report based upon a disclosure form containing extraneous information violates the 

FCRA’s stand-alone disclosure requirement, and (c) such violations are “willful.” 

34.  Mattress Firm knew that it had an obligation to provide stand-alone disclosures and 

obtain written authorizations before procuring consumer reports. 
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35. In fact, the FCRA requires that, prior to procuring consumer reports, employers must 

certify to consumer reporting agencies that they will comply with the FCRA’s stand-alone 

disclosure and authorization requirements. See 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(1). 

36. Mattress Firm did not procure Plaintiff’s report in connection with any investigation of 

suspected misconduct relating to employment, or compliance with federal, state, or local laws and 

regulations, the rules of a self-regulatory organization, or any preexisting written policies.  

37. By systematically inserting extraneous information into Plaintiff’s and Class Members’ 

disclosures, Mattress Firm willfully violated § 1681b(b)(2)(A). 

38. Mattress Firm’s company-wide practices create a risk of real, material harm because its 

Disclosure Form is full of vague terms, confusing phrases, and distracting formatting that prevent 

an adequate understanding of the authorization request and, as a result, violate job applicants’ 

privacy rights by exposing personal information without the applicants’ full and knowing consent. 

39. The risk of material harm for Plaintiff and Class Members is demonstrable because 

multiple former employees have complained about the company’s failure to identify or explain the 

disclosure request, which resulted in adverse employment actions and unauthorized disclosure of 

employees’ personal information. 

40. Plaintiffs and Class Members suffered several concrete injuries due to Mattress Firm’s 

improper Disclosure Form and failure to provide a statutorily required disclosure and comply with 

the FCRA’s stand-alone disclosure requirement. 

a. Plaintiff and Class Members were deprived of their statutory right to a stand-alone 

disclosure and thereby lost their full statutory protection against unintended 

disclosure of confidential information. 
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b. Plaintiff and Class Members lost their statutory right to identify the full scope of 

requested information on a stand-alone disclosure form and make a fully informed 

choice about whether to authorize the disclosure or decline and seek different 

employment that would not expose certain confidential information.   

c. Plaintiff and Class Members faced risks to future or continuing employment 

prospects with Mattress Firm based on personal information obtained, 

unknowingly, that could result in termination or prevent future promotions. 

d. Plaintiff and Class Members lost their right to receive a Disclosure Form with clear, 

understandable terms that prevent the release of false or inaccurate information due 

to vague or confusing requests for background information on a Form.   

Class Action Allegations 

41. Plaintiff brings this case as a class action under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23, on behalf of himself and 

as the Class Representative of the following persons: All individuals on whom Mattress Firm 

obtained a consumer report for employment purposes in the 2 years predating the filing of this 

Complaint and continuing through the date an unlawful disclosure form is utilized.  

42. The FCRA claims, if certified for class-wide treatment, are brought on behalf of all 

similarly situated persons who do not opt-out of the Class. 

43.  The claims satisfy the numerosity, commonality, typicality, adequacy, predominance and 

superiority requirements of a class action under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23. 

44. The Class satisfies the numerosity standard as it consists of thousands of persons who are 

geographically dispersed and, therefore, joinder of all Class Members in a single action is 

impracticable. 
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45. Questions of fact and law common to the Class predominate over any questions affecting 

only individual members. The questions of law and fact common to the Class arising from Mattress 

Firm’s actions include, without limitation: 

a. Whether Mattress Firm’s Disclosure Form violates the FCRA; 

b. Whether Mattress Firm violated the FCRA by obtaining applicants and employees’ 

credit reports based on the Disclosure Form; and 

c. Whether such conduct was willful. 

46. The questions set forth above predominate over any questions affecting only individual 

persons, and a class action is superior with respect to considerations of consistency, economy, 

efficiency, fairness, and equity to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of 

the FCRA claim. 

47. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of those of the Class in that: 

a. Plaintiff and the Class executed the same Disclosure Form;  

b. Mattress Firm obtained the credit reports of Plaintiff and the Class based on the 

same Disclosure Form; and 

c. The same facts relevant to determining willfulness underlie the claims of Plaintiff 

and the Class, such as the language of the FCRA, federal court decisions, FTC 

decisions and guidance, and Mattress Firm’s access to legal advice.   

48. A class action is the appropriate method for the fair and efficient adjudication of the claims. 

Mattress Firm has acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the Class.  

49. Plaintiff is an adequate representative of the Class because he is a Class Member and his 

interests do not conflict with the interest of the members of the Class he seeks to represent.  
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50. The interests of the members of the Class will be fairly and adequately protected by 

Plaintiff and his counsel, who have extensive experience prosecuting complex employment and 

class action litigation. 

51. Maintenance of this action as a class action is superior to other available methods for fairly 

and efficiently adjudicating the controversy as members of the Class have little interest in 

individually controlling the prosecution of separate class actions, no other litigation is pending 

over the same controversy, it is desirable to concentrate the litigation in this Court due to the 

relatively small recoveries per member of the Class, and there are no material difficulties impairing 

the management of a class action.  

52.  It would be impracticable and undesirable for each member of the Class to bring a separate 

action. In addition, the maintenance of separate actions would place a substantial and unnecessary 

burden on the courts and could result in inconsistent adjudications, while a single class action can 

determine, with judicial economy, the rights of all Class Members. 

Count 1: Violation of the FCRA - Unlawful Procurement and Use of Consumer Reports 

53. Plaintiff reasserts and re-alleges the allegations set forth above. 

54. The FCRA requires that disclosure regarding procurement of consumer reports for 

employment purposes be contained in a separate “stand alone” document. 15 U.S.C. § 

1681b(b)(2)(A)(i). 

55. Mattress Firm obtained the consumer reports of Plaintiff and the Class based on its standard 

Disclosure Form, which contains numerous items of extraneous information beyond a mere 

disclosure of procurement of consumer reports for employment purposes. 

56. Mattress Firm’s conduct was willful as it knew that its Disclosure Form should not address 

other matters not strictly required by the FCRA, as reflected by: 
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a. The clear language of the FCRA itself;  

b. Court decisions interpreting the FCRA; 

c. FTC interpretations of the FCRA; and 

d. Mattress Firm’s available access to legal advice. 

57. Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to statutory damages of not less than $100.00 and not 

more than $1,000.00 per violation. 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(1)(A). 

58. Because Mattress Firm’s conduct was willful, Plaintiff and the Class are also entitled to 

punitive damages. 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(2). 

59. Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to recover their costs of this action together with 

reasonable attorney’s fees. 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(3). 

60. Plaintiff and the FCRA Class are also entitled to recover pre- and post-judgment interest 

as provided by applicable law.   

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff and the Class demand judgment against Mattress Firm and request: 

(1) statutory damages as provided by the FCRA; (2) punitive damages as provided by the FCRA; 

(3) attorneys’ fees and costs as allowed by the FCRA; (4) pre-judgment and post-judgment interest 

as provided by law; and (5) such other relief as the Court deems fair and equitable. 

Demand for Jury Trial 

Plaintiff and the class demand a trial by jury. 

 

      Respectfully submitted, 

LAW OFFICE OF  

DANIEL C. HERR LLC 

 

Dated:  May 15, 2017    /s/Daniel C. Herr 

Daniel C. Herr, Esquire, Bar. I.D. 5497 

1225 N. King Street, Suite 1000 
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Wilmington, DE 19801 

302-483-7060 (tel) | 302-483-7065 (fax) 

dherr@dherrlaw.com 

      Attorney for Plaintiff and the Proposed Class 

 

       

      Of Counsel for Plaintiff and the Proposed Class: 

 

      Jack D. McInnes, Esq. (*pro hac vice forthcoming) 

      MCINNES LAW LLC 

      4300 Shawnee Mission Pkwy, Ste 100 

      Fairway, KS 66205 

      (913) 378-9830 

      jack@mcinnes-law.com  

 

      Paul Mose, Esq. (*pro hac vice forthcoming) 

      MOSE LAW LLC 

      3111 Strong Ave. 

      Kansas City, KS 66106 

      (913) 432-4484 

      pablo@moselaw.com  
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